Public Document Pack

North Devon Council
Brynsworthy Environment Centre
Barnstaple
North Devon EX31 3NP
K. Miles
Chief Executive.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
A meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee will be held in the Barum Room Brynsworthy on MONDAY, 9TH MAY, 2022 at 2.00 pm.
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the
agenda front pages. From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold
formal meetings in person. The council is also ensuring that all venues used are
Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place. There are a
limited number of spaces available for members of the public to attend. Please
check the Council’s website for the latest information regarding the arrangements
that are in place and the requirement to book a place 2 working days prior to the
meeting Taking part in meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)

Members of the Strategy and Resources Councillor Worden (Chair)
Committee
Councillors Crabb, Knight, Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2022
(attached). (Pages 7 - 18)

3.

Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by
the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4.

Declarations of Interests.
(Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the
item is called, and Councillors must leave the room if necessary).

5.

To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted
Information).

PART 'A'
6.

Support of Ukrainian Refugees
Head of Planning, Housing and Health and Service Lead – Housing Advice and

Homelessness to report.
7.

Proposed amendment to the Council's Amenity Standards, Minimum Room
Sizing and Management Standards (Pages 19 - 46)
Report by Public Protection Manager and Graduate Environmental Health
Officer/Residential Licensing Officer (attached).

8.

Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review (Pages 47 - 72)
Report by Public Protection Manager (attached).

9.

Levelling Up Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund (Pages 73 - 76)
Report by Chief Executive (attached).

10.

High Street Task Force Support (Pages 77 - 80)
Report by Head of Place, Property and Regeneration (attached).

11.

Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive (Pages 81 - 84)
To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached).

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION)
Nil.

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253

27.04.22

2

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making.
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is
respected.
The rules that the Council will apply are:
1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we
know recording is taking place.
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording
if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public
is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off.
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that
agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the
earliest opportunity.
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.
Notes for guidance:
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.
3

North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP.
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS.
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right.
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.
On arrival at the main entrance, please sign in using the Track and Trace App and follow
the signage and instructions in order to access the Meeting Rooms. Alternatively, dial
8253 for Corporate and Community Services if you have any problems.

4

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Barum Room Brynsworthy on Monday, 4th April, 2022 at 10.00 am
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Worden (Chair)
Councillors Crabb, Lane, Lofthouse, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive,
Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, Property Manager, Head of
Environmental Enhancement and Head of Place, Property and
Regeneration
Also Present in person:
Councillors D. Spear and Tucker

122.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Knight and Patrinos.
123.

TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 7 MARCH 2022 (ATTACHED).

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2022 (circulated
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
124.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY.

(a) Former Councillor Roy Lucas
The Chair advised the Committee that former District Councillor Roy Lucas who
represented the Braunton area for a number of years had sadly passed away. He
was also previously Chair of the Council. The Committee remembered him and his
family at this sad time.
125.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS.

There were no declarations of interest announced.
1

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

126.

OCEAN RECOVERY

The Committee considered the following notice of motion submitted by Councillor
Wilkinson which had been referred to the Strategy and Resources Committee by
Council on 23 February 2022:
“This Council declares an urgent need for Ocean Recovery.
We recognise that we need ocean recovery to meet our net zero carbon targets, and
we need net zero carbon to recover our ocean.
This Council pledges to:
1. Report to Full Council within twelve months on the actions and projects that
will help with an ocean recovery in North Devon.
2. Consider ocean recovery in our strategic decisions, plans, budgets and
approaches to decisions by the Council (particularly in planning, regeneration,
skills and economic policy), aligning with climate change mitigation and
adaptation requirements, and considering ocean-based solutions in our
journey towards a carbon neutral and climate resilient future.
3. Ensure that the Local Nature Recovery Strategy strives to support ocean
recovery.
4. Work with partners locally to deliver increased sustainability in marine
industries and develop a sustainable and equitable blue economy that
delivers ocean recovery and local prosperity.
5. Communication through our social media of actions which are being taken to
aid ocean recovery progress, signpost ocean literacy development
opportunities, and marine citizenship pledges.
6. Write to the Government asking them to put the ocean into net recovery by
2030 by
a) Ensuring Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authorities and Natural
England have the resources they need to effectively research and
monitor our growing number of marine protected areas, and to set and
enforce appropriate fishing levels that support local economies and
deliver environmental sustainability.
b) Ensuring coastal communities have a meaningful say in the
development of marine policy to ensure it delivers equitable and
sustainable outcomes.
c) Appoint a dedicated Minister for Coastal Communities.

2

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

d) And by listening to marine scientific advice, including marine social
science, to update the Marine Policy Statement and produce a
national Ocean Recovery Strategy which will:
i. Enable the recovery of marine ecosystems rather than managing
degraded or altered habitats in their reduced state.
ii. Consider levelling up, marine conservation, energy, industrial
growth, flood and coastal erosion risk management, climate
adaptation and fisheries policy holistically rather than as competing
interests.
iii. Develop a smarter approach to managing the health of the entire
ocean that moves beyond Marine Protected Areas and enables links
to be made across sectors towards sustainability.
iv. Establish improved processes for understanding the benefits of
ocean recovery, leaving no doubt the links between this and human
lives, livelihoods, and wellbeing.
v. Stop plastic pollution at source by strengthening the regulations
around single-use plastics and set standards for microfibre-catching
filters to ensure that all new domestic and commercial washing
machines are fitted with a filter that captures a high percentage of
microfibres produced in the wash cycle.”
Councillor Wilkinson presented the notice of motion to the Committee and explained
that he had submitted the motion as a result of work of the Local Government
Association Coastal Issues Group which he was appointed to represent the Council.
The motion had been presented to all Local Authorities located along the coast in
England and had been drawn up by two marine biologists. He explained the reasons
for the submission of the motion to Council. He advised that if the motion was
approved that regular updates should be provided on progress made.
Councillor Worden and the Chief Executive suggested some amendments to be
made to the motion.
RESOLVED that this Council declares an urgent need for Ocean Recovery and
recognise that we need ocean recovery to meet our net zero carbon targets, and we
need net zero carbon to recover our ocean and that:
(a) This Council pledges to:
(i)

Work with partners such as Surfers Against Sewage, Plastic Free
North Devon and North Devon Biosphere to provide a report to Full
Council within twelve months on the actions and projects that will help
with an ocean recovery in North Devon.

3

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Consider ocean recovery where appropriate in our strategic decisions,
plans, budgets and approaches to decisions by the Council (particularly
in planning, regeneration, skills and economic policy), aligning with
climate change mitigation and adaptation requirements, and
considering ocean-based solutions in our journey towards a carbon
neutral and climate resilient future.
Make representatives to Devon County Council to ensure that the
Local Nature Recovery Strategy strives to support ocean recovery.
Work with partners locally to deliver increased sustainability in marine
industries and develop a sustainable and equitable blue economy that
delivers ocean recovery and local prosperity.
Communication through our social media of actions which are being
taken to aid ocean recovery progress, signpost ocean literacy
development opportunities, and marine citizenship pledges.
Write to the Government asking them to put the ocean into net
recovery by 2030 by:
a. Ensuring Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authorities and
Natural England have the resources they need to effectively
research and monitor our growing number of marine protected
areas, and to set and enforce appropriate fishing levels that
support local economies and deliver environmental
sustainability.
b. Ensuring coastal communities have a meaningful say in the
development of marine policy to ensure it delivers equitable
and sustainable outcomes.
c. Appoint a dedicated Minister for Coastal Communities.
d. And by listening to marine scientific advice, including marine
social science, to update the Marine Policy Statement and
produce a national Ocean Recovery Strategy which will:
i. Enable the recovery of marine ecosystems rather than
managing degraded or altered habitats in their reduced state.
ii. Consider levelling up, marine conservation, energy, industrial
growth, flood and coastal erosion risk management, climate
adaptation and fisheries policy holistically rather than as
competing interests.
iii. Develop a smarter approach to managing the health of the
entire ocean that moves beyond Marine Protected Areas and
enables links to be made across sectors towards sustainability.
iv. Establish improved processes for understanding the benefits
4

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

of ocean recovery, leaving no doubt the links between this and
human lives, livelihoods, and wellbeing.
v. Stop plastic pollution at source by strengthening the
regulations around single-use plastics and set standards for
microfibre-catching filters to ensure that all new domestic and
commercial washing machines are fitted with a filter that
captures a high percentage of microfibres produced in the
wash cycle.
Councillor Wilkinson advised the Committee that it had been announced today that
North Devon had become the first place in the UK to be selected as a World Surfing
Reserve. North Devon was the 12th World Surfing Reserve in the UK and only the
second in the whole of Europe which was a remarkable achievement and recognised
the environment. It would also have benefits for tourism.
127.

RE-INSTATEMENT OF BIDEFORD TO BARNSTAPLE RAIL LINK

Councillor Lane declared a personal interest as he and his wife were users of the
Tarka Trail.
The Committee considered the following notice of motion submitted by Councillor
Lofthouse which had been referred to the Strategy and Resources Committee by
Council on 23 February 2022:
“Motion to support the re-instatement of Bideford to Barnstaple rail link for passenger
and other services, as proposed by ACE Rail.
This Council agrees to:
1) Include this policy aim within the revised joint local plan.
2) Work with partners and organisations to support and develop this idea and to
lobby those who may contribute to making this happen including Great British
Railways, Devon County Council, Peninsula Transport, and the Government.
3) Invite Councillor Tim Steer to a future Full Council meeting to give a presentation
of what is currently being proposed by ACE Rail.”
The Committee received a presentation by Councillor Tim Steer, Director of Bideford
Railway Heritage Centre and ACE Rail Lead regarding the proposed re-instatement
of Bideford to Barnstaple rail link for passenger and other services and the reasons
for the proposed re-instatement. He outlined the proposed starting points and next
steps which included part funding an independent specialist adviser to prepare a
prospectus for ACE rail as a basis for an initial business case which would cost
£12,000 and suggested that North Devon Council and Torridge District Council be
requested to contribute £3,500 each towards the appointment of an independent
specialist adviser.
Councillor Lofthouse presented the motion to the Committee and outlined the
reasons for the submission of the notice of motion.

5

Page 11

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

In response to a question, the Director of Resources advised that the suggested
contribution of £3,500 towards the appointment of an independent specialist adviser
had not been included within the revenue budget for 2022/23. There was an
Environmental Initiatives earmarked reserve which could be considered. Officers
would also need to explore whether there were any external funding opportunities
available.
RESOLVED that motion to support the re-instatement of Bideford to Barnstaple rail
link for passenger and other services, as proposed by ACE Rail be supported and
the Council agrees:
(a)

That the inclusion of this policy aim within the revised joint local plan be
referred to the Joint Planning Policy Committee for consideration;
To work with partners and organisations to explore this idea and where
necessary to lobby those who may contribute to making this happen including
Great British Railways, Devon County Council, Peninsula Transport, and the
Government.

(b)

128.

DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATES RELIEF/COVID 19
ADDITIONAL RELIEF FUND

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Customer Focus (circulated
previously) regarding Discretionary Business Rates Relief and Covid 19 Additional
Relief Fund.
The Director Resources highlighted the following:









On 25 March 2021, the Government announced plans to provide an additional
business rates support package, worth £1.5 billion, to support businesses in
England affected by COVID-19 but not eligible for existing support linked to
business rates.
North Devon Council had been awarded £1,812,522 from the £1.5 billion
funding.
The Council was required to determine its own scheme for the administration
of Covid 19 Additional Relief Fund and the Department for Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities had stated that, in order for the Council to receive
the allocated funding it must adhere to certain criteria as outlined in paragraph
4.1 of the report. The policy for the granting of this funding was detailed in
Appendix C to this report.
Modelling showed that the Council would be left with around 10% of our
allocated budget to be used as a contingency fund to help those businesses,
on a case by case basis, who can demonstrate that they have been adversely
affect by COVID-19 despite being in the list of excluded businesses in
Appendix D.
For those businesses who had paid their business rates for 2021/22, a credit
would be rolled forward to 2022/23 year. Those businesses that had already
paid their business rates for 2022/22 would be entitled to a rebate.

RESOLVED that the policy for the granting of COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund be
adopted.
6

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

129.

LYNBRIDGE CAR PARK, LYNTON

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place, Property and
Regeneration (circulated previously) regarding Lynbridge car park at Lynton.
The Head of Place, Property and Regeneration highlighted the following:















The car park was owned by North Devon Council but managed by Lynton and
Lynmouth Town Council as part of an Agency agreement between the two
Councils.
The car park provided 10 car parking spaces, which were let annually to local
residents as part of a permit scheme. These cost £200 per annum and
generated £2000 income to the Council each year.
A structural survey had been commissioned and found the car park to be
unsafe. It advised that the elevated section of the car park should not be used
until such time as investigations have established the adequacy of the
concrete deck and that appropriate vehicle barriers have been installed.
As a result the car park was closed on Monday 14 February 2022 for severe
health and safety reasons. The condition of the surface, edge protection and
the structure itself required investigation to establish the integrity of the car
park. Permit holders and local members were advised that such investigations
would take time and that we could not give any indication of the timescales
involved or the likely outcome of these inspections. The closure was
publicised in a press release and shared on social media.
Photographs of the car park were detailed on pages 93 and 94 of the report.
The car park was built in approximately 1952 and a structural survey had
been commissioned ten years ago. Unfortunately, a copy of that report was
not available but it concluded that remedial works involving the installation of
new internal columns, beams and bracing members were required. It was
noted that the perimeter columns along the rear of the car park were retained
and have been painted with anti-corrosive paint. The new internal steel
columns have been positioned against the existing columns and were
supported on top of the original footings which were founded into the
underlying rock formation. The bases of the perimeter columns were now
encased with a new concrete plinth laid over the top of the existing footings.
The more recent report inspected all areas which could be viewed at ground
level and from accessible areas. Those parts of the structure which were
concealed such as the car park deck, encased steel beams or the foundations
were not inspected unless the report identified otherwise. The report made a
number of recommendations as detailed in paragraph 4.5 of the report.
Recommendations (1) and (7) were highlighted.
Following the closure, officers sought a quote for additional investigative
works to inform our decision making. The conclusion was detailed in
paragraph 4.7 of the report.
A further quote was then sought for additional investigation works. This came
back at £46,000.
Given the cost of these investigative works, officers considered it necessary to
prepare an internal report to understand our options for this structure. The

7

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022











Senior Engineer had now completed this initial assessment and concluded
that there were 4 options as detailed in paragraph 4.9 of the report.
The structure was 70 years old and situated in a coastal environment. Visual
inspections have proven that elements of it were in poor condition and
potentially in stages of failure, and it would continue to deteriorate without
intervention. The structural engineer had also reported that in addition to the
structural issues, there was some undermining of the deck that would also
need attention going forward.
Officers were aware of social media concerns that the car park had not been
suitably maintained. Works were carried out in 2010 to try to preserve the
structure, but with any structure of this nature it had an economic and
structural life. The structure itself was made up of various components, all of
which must work together to maintain the structural integrity. There were now
issues which each of these elements.
The costs of the investigative works alone were significant before the cost of
any mitigation works on a structure that was of an age that could be
considered end of life could be understood.
Whilst the loss of parking for residents was regrettable, the cost of replacing
the structure, estimated at £500,000 was significant and the cost of providing
this facility for these residents which only generated an annual income to the
Council of £2,000 per annum had to be balanced against the wider impact
that this would have on the Council’s financial position. The borrowing costs
alone for the investment, over a 50-year period would cost the Council
£22,000 per year and therefore unfortunately was not a viable investment
proposal.
In the first instance, option 4 could be explored and identify whether either the
Town Council or community would wish to take on the land, in the knowledge
of the associated risk.
If there was no interest in the land from either the Town Council or local
residents then given the age of the structure, its state of repair and the cost of
investigative works/replacement of the structure, officers considered that
option 2 should be progressed and the structure removed.

In response to a question, the Director of Resources advised that any revenue
surplus from the Agency Agreement between the Council and Lynton and Lynmouth
Town Council came back to North Devon Council and that any repairs required to be
made to assets were the responsibility of North Devon Council.
RESOLVED that the Council proceed with option 4 and offer the land to the Town
Council or community, disclosing the concerns with the structure and that if after a 6
month period it was clear that there was no interest in the land that a report be
brought back to the Committee for consideration.
130.

SUPPORT FOR ENERGY BILLS - COUNCIL TAX REBATE

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Customer Focus (circulated
previously) regarding support for energy bills Council Tax rebate.
The Director Resources highlighted the following:
8

Page 14

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022















On 3 February 2022, the Government announced measures to help millions of
households from rising energy costs. These measures included a £150
council tax energy rebate. The Government was providing funding for billing
authorities to give all households in England whose primary residence was
valued in council tax bands A-D a one off council tax energy rebate payment
of £150. Excluded from this were properties such as second and empty
homes.
The Government would also provide funding for billing authorities to operate a
separate discretionary fund for households in need who would not otherwise
be eligible. These could include for example individuals on low incomes who
live in properties valued in bands E-H.
North Devon Council had been allocated total funding of £5,847,750 which
included £192,000 for the discretionary fund and £5,655,750 for the main
scheme fund.
Each household who paid their council tax by direct debit would receive their
payment directly into their bank account where bank account details match
the details of the liable parties. This payment would be made after the first
April direct payment had been made to the Council. Around 80% paid their
Council Tax via direct debit.
For customers who did not pay by direct debit or whose direct debit bank
account details did not match the liable party (i.e where council tax was paid
by a third party) it was intended to run an application process.
The Government had made it very clear that these payments were intended to
assist households to pay their energy bills and that every effort should be
made to make a payment however, as a last resort the option could be made
to non-direct-debit payers of crediting their council tax account.
A leaflet had been included within Council Tax bills as appended to the report.
The Council was working with other Devon Local Authorities on the
discretionary scheme.
The Council would receive some funding from Government to cover
administrative costs. This amount had not yet been confirmed.

Councillor Crabb arrived.
In response to questions, the Director of Resources advised the following:



If all administrative funds were not utilised then there was potential that it
could be used towards the overall revenue budget pressure and offset
additional energy costs incurred by the Council.
For those Council Tax payers who did not pay by direct debit, they would be
required to complete a short form to provide their Bank and Council Tax
reference details. The Council would contact all customers affected who had
not already applied through the process. A press release would be issued
and social media posts would be made to make these customers aware.

The Committee thanked the Director of Resources and his team for their hard work
in administering all Government grants.

9

Page 15

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

RESOLVED that:
(a) the contents of the report be noted;
(b) it be noted that the details of the separate discretionary scheme would follow

at the next scheduled Strategy and Resources Committee in May 2022.
131.

HOMES FOR UKRAINE

The Chief Executive provided the Committee with an update on Homes for Ukraine.
He advised the following:
















The Council was stepping up its response, alongside key partners, to
the Homes for Ukraine scheme. This was now ‘live’, enabling local sponsors to
match with guests from Ukraine.
All Devon Local Authorities were working together to develop a rapid and coordinated response. Devon County Council had now published a dedicated
webpage which went live last week to provide information for sponsors,
Councils and the public.
The Council’s main role would be to assess the sponsor’s accommodation
and suitability prior to the match of guests and sponsors being made. The
Council would also need to make the sponsor fully aware of the commitment.
The Council would then be required to undertake a further inspection 2 weeks
after the placement and again at 5 months.
The DBS checks would be undertaken by Devon County Council.
There was a risk to the Council that if the placement was not successful,
Ukranian refugees could present themselves to the Council as being
homeless and requiring emergency accommodation.
The Council was working in partnership with local partners such as Pickwell
Foundation and Sunrise to ensure support arrangements were put in place
and refugees had a day to day contact. Pickwell Foundation had previously
provided support to Syrian and Afghanistan refugees.
Sponsors would receive £350 per month for a maximum of 12 months. The
Council would receive £10,000 per refugee family to cover costs of inspection
and support provided.
Devon County Council had advised that 17 sponsors had registered, however
there had been no confirmation of dates for arrival of the refugees.
The Council was in the process of ensuring that officers were prepared and
ready to undertake inspections of sponsors when required. There was a need
to ensure that both the sponsor and property were appropriate. Nationally
safeguarding issues had been highlighted and there was a need to consider
these issues as part of the inspections.
Further updates would be sent to Councillors as appropriate.

In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised the following:



That DBS checks needed to be undertaken to make sure that there were no
issues and were required even if the landlord did not live at the property.
The placements were for a minimum of 6 months, however it could be
extended to up to 3 years.
10

Page 16

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

132.

LITTER BIN STRATEGY UPDATE

The Environment Lead provided the following update on the Litter Bin strategy:






Links had been established with Petroc college and there were plans to also
engage with schools.
Consideration was being given to the creation of a litter specific webpage.
The Litter Bin audit was currently being updated. The current information was
not up to date and Parish Councils were being invited to check the location
and condition of bins within their parish. It was anticipated that a new form
would be created for parishes to request new litter bins in the future.
A spreadsheet containing a list of bins within all parishes would be circulated
to Councillors for information.

133.

URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Committee noted the urgent decision that had been taken by the Chief
Executive in accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution
(circulated previously) regarding Ilfracombe Harbour and Victoria Pleasure grounds.
134.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS AND RESTRICTION OF
DOCUMENTS

RESOLVED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and
press be excluded from the meeting for the following item as it involved the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3, Part 1 Schedule 12A of
the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information relating to the financial
or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information); and
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as “Not for
Publication”.
135.

ILFRACOMBE SEAFRONT - THE MUSEUM AND GOLDEN
COAST SITE

The Committee considered a report by the Property Manager (circulated previously)
regarding the Ilfracombe Seafront, the Museum and Golden Coasts sites.
The Property Manager outlined the key issues in connection with the Ilfracombe
Seafront, the Museum and Golden Coast sites and answered questions from the
Committee in relation to the same.
The Chief Executive reported the receipt of the Levelling Up Round 2 prospectus
following the publication of the agenda. For Round 1 of the Fund, the Council
submitted a bid in relation to the Ilfracombe Seafront Masterplan. Council at its
meeting on 6 April 2022 would be requested to take a decision on what should be
included within the Round 2. The deadline for Round 2 bid was 6 July 2022.

11

Page 17

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 4 April 2022

RESOLVED that:
(a) the lease to the Trustees of Ilfracombe Museum not be renewed if the flood
risk was still in place at the time the S25 Hostile Notice could be served, 12 to
6 months before the lease expiry date of 25th December 2025. Under the
Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 Pt II, the notice could be served on the
grounds of redevelopment or landlord’s occupation of the premises;
(b) the Property Manager be instructed to formally advise the Trustees of the
Ilfracombe Museum of the flood risk, their responsibilities and that NDC, due
to the existing flood risk, would not be in a position to extend or renew the
lease of their present building and they should seek to find an alternative;
(c) the Trustees of the Museum aspirations to relocate to the site at the base of
Capstone not be agreed as no business case had been submitted;
(d) the Council work jointly with the owner of the Golden Coast site to develop a
scheme providing a quality mixed use development incorporating flood
prevention measures.
Chair
The meeting ended at 12.03 pm
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

12

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council
Report Date: 9 May 2022
Topic: Proposed amendment to the Council’s Amenity Standards, Minimum Room
Sizing and Management Standards
Report by: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager & Tanisha Rowswell, Graduate
Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Amendments are proposed to the Council’s Amenity Standards, Minimum
Room Sizing and Management Standards document. The new revised
Amenity Standards document with tracked changes is found within
Appendix A.
1.2. The current Amenity Standards do not include the position surrounding the
sharing of bedrooms in licensed Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). The
Legislation is silent in terms of room sharing, albeit that a Room Standard
and a Space Standard are provided for in the Housing Act 1985. The Room
Standard and Space Standard are criteria used to ascertain whether a
property is statutory over-crowded. As such, an amendment to the locally
adopted standards under the section ‘Mandatory requirements in HMOs –
Space standards’ has been made.
1.3. Subsequent to the implementation of the Amenity Standards in July 2021,
the administration of licence applications for HMOs has worked well, albeit
there are three main areas requiring further clarity.
1.4. The first area is in terms of the prescribed standards under the section
‘Personal washing facilities and WCs’, which requires an amendment in line
with The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation
(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007 (‘The 2007
Regulations’).
1.5. The second area is in terms of the ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and
cooking of food (shared facilities).’ A query arose with regard to the numbers
of sinks and dishwashers, whereby it was not practical to install the set
number of sinks and instead there was a desire to utilise a dishwasher as an
alternative. It is proposed to amend the Amenity Standards to provide a
proportionate response to the query raised.

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

1.6. The third area is in terms of the ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and
cooking of food (individual use facilities)’, which requires an amendment in
line with The 2007 Regulations.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. It is recommended that Strategy and Resources approve:
2.1.1.

3.

A public consultation on the proposed draft revised Amenity Standards,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document
(Amenity Standards) found within Appendix A, and seek that
consultation responses be reported to a future committee prior to
making any approval.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1. To ensure the Council’s policies are regularly reviewed and kept up to date.
3.2. To increase the robustness of the Council’s approach and procedures in
respect of sharing of rooms in HMOs. The numbers sharing a room are not
expressly included in the current Amenity Standards.
3.3. A number of queries have arisen since the implementation of the Amenity
Standards, which will be prudent to provide clarity over.
3.4. To be proportionate and reasonable in terms of the Council’s expectation
surrounding ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food
(shared facilities).’
4.

REPORT

4.1. North Devon Council (NDC) approved the Amenity Standards at a previous
Strategy and Resources Committee meeting on 5 July 2021.
4.2. Since the implementation of the Amenity Standards a number of queries
have arisen for which this report aims to provide clarity over.
4.3. A proposed revised Amenity Standards document is found in Appendix A,
and tracked changes are highlighted in the document. The main sections
recommended for amendment include:
4.4. ‘Personal washing facilities and WCs’

Page 20

Agenda Item 7

4.5. This section requires an amendment to the prescribed standards in line with
the 2007 Regulations, which are no longer based upon 5 persons sharing
(as per the previous Regulations), and instead the wording is based upon an
adequate number of bathrooms, WCs, and wash hand basins, available for
the number of persons sharing the facilities. Members should note that this
amendment does not impact on the Council’s Locally Adopted Standards,
which remain unchanged.
4.6. A query had arisen in respect of whether en-suites count towards the total
number of bathrooms required. As such, an amendment has been made to
provide clarity over the number of shared facilities relating to bathrooms.
4.7. A further query had arisen in respect of the number of bathrooms required
for the number of occupiers. A subtle change to the wording to enhance
clarity has been provided.
4.8. ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared facilities).’
4.9. A query recently arose with regard to the numbers of sinks and dishwashers,
whereby it was not practical to install the set number of sinks and instead
there was a desire to install a dishwasher as an alternative to an additional
sink. It is proposed to amend the Amenity Standards to give applicants more
flexibility in this regard.
4.10. ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (individual use
facilities).’
4.11. A section has been inserted into the Prescribed Standards in line with the
2007 Regulations. This covers units of living accommodation without basic
shared amenities, for example whereby landlords are not contractually
obliged to provide appliances. This does not impact the Council’s Locally
Adopted Standards.
4.12. ‘Mandatory requirements in HMOs – Space standards’
4.13. A section has been inserted under the above heading covering the sharing
of rooms by one or more households, as the Legislation appears to be silent
on this. As such, the following statement has been added to clarify the
Council’s position on this matter: ‘No more than one household shall occupy
any room used for sleeping accommodation (please see the Housing Act
2004 for the definition of a household)’.

Page 21

Agenda Item 7
4.14. Various other small amendments have also been made to the Amenity
Standards document, as per the tracked changes.
4.15. Consultation
4.16. A consultation will be undertaken with key stakeholders including estate
agents, management companies and landlords.
4.17. A period of six weeks has been elected for consultation in line with the
Cabinet Office guidance.
4.18. Emails will be sent out where possible, but letters will be distributed in other
instances depending on the availability of contact information.
4.19. Feedback to committee will be undertaken following the receipt of
consultation responses.

5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

5.1. Any financial costs which are incurred through the implementation of the
Amenity Standards will be met by individual licence holders.

6.

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT

6.1. There are no perceived equalities implications anticipated as a result of this
report.

7.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

7.1. No environmental implications arose from the completed Environmental
Assessment checklist. This report is neutral and does not cover the
environmental objectives cited.

8.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1.

The commercialisation agenda: neutral

Page 22

Agenda Item 7
8.1.2.

8.1.3.

9.

Improving customer focus: positive, as it provides a proportionate
response to queries raised pertaining to the numbers of sinks and
dishwashers in licensable properties.
Regeneration or economic development: positive as it provides a
proportionate response to queries raised pertaining to the numbers of
sinks and dishwashers in licensable properties.

CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT

9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1
9.2. Referred or delegated power? Delegated.

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: (The
background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of the
report).







North Devon Council, Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards, June 2021
Housing Act 1985
Housing Act 2004
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation
(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE

12.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers:

Page 23

Agenda Item 7
Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager & Tanisha Rowswell, Graduate
Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer
Date 06.04.22

Page 24

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards Document
Standards Applicable to all Licensable Part 2 HMOs – Revised
April 2022

Commented [TR1]: The date has been updated.

Commented [TR2]: A Table of Contents has been added
for ease of reference.

Table of Contents
1.

Introduction.......................................................................................... 2

1.1

What is an HMO? ............................................................................. 2

1.2

What is a household defined as? .................................................. 2

1.3

Mandatory licensing of HMOs ........................................................ 2

1.4

Exemptions to HMO licensing ....................................................... 3

1.5

Planning permission ....................................................................... 3

1.6

Further information ......................................................................... 3

2.

Heating requirements ......................................................................... 3

3.

Personal washing facilities and WC’s .............................................. 4

4. Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food
(shared facilities) ........................................................................................ 7
5. Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food
(individual use facilities).......................................................................... 10
6.
6.1
6.2
7.
7.1
7.2
8.

Mandatory Requirements in HMOs ................................................. 12
Space standards ............................................................................ 12
Waste Disposal .............................................................................. 14
HMO management ............................................................................. 15
Manager duties ............................................................................. 16
Tenant duties ................................................................................ 17
Miscellaneous recommendations ................................................... 18

8.1

Minimum bedroom sizes ............................................................. 18

8.2

Energy efficiency.......................................................................... 18

8.3

Lead in drinking water ................................................................. 19
1

Page 25

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

8.4

Radon Levels ................................................................................ 20

8.5

Washing and drying facilities ..................................................... 21
Commented [TR3]: Headings have been numbered
throughout the document for ease of reference.

1. Introduction
This document sets out the amenity standards, minimum room sizes and
management standards for landlords, licence holders and managers
operating licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in North Devon.
Please note these are minimum standards, and it is expected properties will
meet or exceed these requirements.
If the standards outlined in this document are not reasonably practicable
based on the age and layout of your property, please contact us and we will
discuss alternative options with you.
1.1 What is an HMO?
The Housing Act 2004 defines a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) as a
building or part of a building (e.g. a flat) which:




Two or more households occupy, and share one or more basic amenity
(toilet, bathroom, cooking facilities).
Is a converted building not entirely comprising of self-contained flats.
Is converted into self-contained flats, but the conversion does not
comply with the Building Regulations 1991, and less than 2/3 of the
flats are owner occupied.

An HMO could be:






A house split into separate bedsits,
A shared house or flat, where the sharers are not members of the
same family,
A hostel,
A bed-and-breakfast hotel that is not just for holidays, or,
Shared accommodation for students.

1.2 What is a household defined as?
A household is defined as persons who are all members of the same family
(that are related to one another as a couple, parent, grandparent, child,
grandchild, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or cousin. Stepchildren and half
blood relatives are also included).
The property must also be used as the tenants' only or main residence, and
used solely or mainly to house tenants.
1.3 Mandatory licensing of HMOs

2

Page 26

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

From April 2018, all HMOs with five or more occupants from two or more
separate households, who share a bathroom, toilet or kitchen are required to
be mandatorily licenced by law. The introduction of this legislation removed
the three-storey rule, meaning all properties which are less than three-storeys,
and meet the above criteria, are now required to be licensed as Part 2 HMOs
by the Council.
The new legislation also includes the implementation of national minimum
sleeping room sizes and waste disposal provision requirements.
A Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessment will be
carried out by an officer at the Council within 5 years of a property obtaining a
HMO licence. The assessment highlights any deficiencies or hazards in a
property and scores them according to their likelihood of risk. If a deficiency
corresponds to a Category 1 or 2 hazard, action will be required to remove the
risk.
1.4 Exemptions to HMO licensing


A property with 2 persons forming 2 households,



An owner occupied property with 2 lodgers,



Buildings controlled by:
o
o
o
o
o

Public bodies,
Registered social landlords,
Educational establishments,
Religious establishments, and
Buildings provided for specific use and covered by defined
legislation (e.g. prisons, children’s homes, immigration centres
etc.).

1.5 Planning permission
If you have any queries relating to planning permission or building
classifications please contact the planning department who will assist you with
your queries.
1.6 Further information
Further information relating to HMOs, including information pertaining to
landlords of HMOs and tenants living in HMOs can be found on our website.

Commented [TR4]: A change has been made to the name
of this section heading.

2. Heating requirements

3

Page 27

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (1).
Applies to: Bedrooms and bedsits, and bathrooms.
Commented [TR5]: Sub-headings have been underlined
throughout for ease of reference.

Prescribed standards:


Each unit of living accommodation in an HMO must be equipped with
adequate means of space heating, and kept in proper working order.

Locally agreed standards:


The heating is capable of maintaining an internal temperature of 21°C
when the outside temperature is -1°C;



The heating is capable of being controlled by the occupier;



Heating should be suitable and permanently fixed;



Each shower or bathroom should have a heating appliance.

Justification:


Adverse health impacts are known to begin after the internal
temperature of the house falls below 19°C, and a healthy indoor
temperature is 21°C. Therefore, it is important the heating is suitable
and occupiers have access to these controls.



The heating should be fixed to reduce the likelihood of fire.



Fixed heating also reduces the likelihood of hazards associated with
excess cold and excess heat, as it reduces the likelihood of areas of
extreme temperature in the property. This also reduces hazards
associated with damp and mould by reducing the incidence of
condensation and the prevalence of cold surfaces.

3. Personal washing facilities and WC’s
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (2) as amended by The Licensing and Management of
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations
2007.
Applies to: Wash hand basins, baths, showers and WC’s
Prescribed standards:
4

Page 28

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be at least one bathroom with a fixed bath or shower and a toilet
(which may be situated in the bathroom);



Where there are five or more occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be:
o One separate toilet with wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back for every five sharing occupiers, and;
o At least one bathroom (which may contain a toilet) with a fixed
bath or shower for every five sharing occupiers.





Where there are five or more occupiers of an HMO, every unit of living
accommodation must contain a wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back;
Where all or some of the units of living accommodation in an HMO do
not contain bathing and toilet facilities for the exclusive use of each
individual household, there must be an adequate number of
bathrooms, toilets and wash-hand basins suitable for personal washing
for the number of persons sharing those facilities; and where
reasonably practicable there must be a wash hand basin with
appropriate splash back in each unit, having regard to the age and
character of the HMO, the size and layout of each flat and its existing
provision for wash-hand basins, toilets and bathrooms;



All baths, showers and wash hand basins in an HMO must be
equipped with taps providing an adequate supply of cold and constant
hot water;



All bathrooms in an HMO must be suitably and adequately heated and
ventilated;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be of an adequate size and
layout;



All baths, showers, toilets and wash hand basins in an HMO must be fit
for the purpose;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be suitably located in or in
relation to the living accommodation in the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:


Bathrooms should not be more than two-storeys away from any
bedroom and should be accessible from communal areas;

5

Page 29

Commented [TR6]: This section has been removed and
amended in line with The Licensing and Management of
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)
(England) Regulations 2007 (‘The 2007 Regulations’).

Commented [TR7]: This has been inserted and replaces the
above in line with The 2007 Regulations.

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



Bathrooms must have mechanical ventilation to the outside air in
addition to any window(s);



Ventilation should not be obstructed;




Bathrooms and toilets must have a layout satisfactory to the Council;
Bathrooms must have a sufficient fixed heating source.
Commented [TR8]: This title has been changed so the table
reflects our locally adopted standards.

Reference table for prescribed standards: Locally adopted standards table:
Number of occupiers
sharing facilities

1-4

5

Number of bathrooms and WCs required
Commented [TR9]: This has been added into the 2022
standards for clarification, as a query arose in respect of
whether en suites counted towards the total number of
bathrooms required.

1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 X WC (this WC may be contained in the
bathroom, or in a separate compartment with its
own wash hand basin)
1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 x WC in a room containing a wash hand basin
(this WC may be contained in a second bathroom)

Commented [TR10]: A further query arose in respect of
the number of bathrooms required for the number of
occupiers. Therefore, this amendment has been added to the
table for clarity.

Or, 2 complete bathrooms are accepted.

6-10

2 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
2 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(one of the WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)

Commented [TR11]: As above.

Or, 3 complete bathrooms are accepted.

11-15

3 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
3 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(two of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)
Commented [TR12]: As above.

Or, 4 complete bathrooms are accepted.

16+

4 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
4 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(three of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)

Commented [TR13]: This has been amended for clarity.

Commented [TR14]: As above.

Or, 5 complete bathrooms are accepted.

If reasonably practicable, wash hand basins are to be provided in each
individual unit of accommodation. It is up to the landlord to demonstrate it is
not reasonably practicable in every room, and the Council will assess this
based on ease of installation and cost. As an alternative, a wash hand basin

6

Page 30

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

should be provided within each shared bathroom and compartment containing
a toilet.
All rooms containing a toilet must also contain a wash hand basin.
Justification:


A sufficient number of amenities reduces the number of hazards
associated with sanitary and personal hygiene.



Ventilation extracts and reduces moisture-laden air contributing to
damp and mould.



Excess cold is reduced by ensuring bathrooms are sufficiently heated.



An appropriate bathroom layout reduces hazards associated with the
position and operability of amenities etc.

4. Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared
facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (3) (as amended).
Applies to: Shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
Where all or some of the units of accommodation within the HMO do not
contain any facilities for the cooking of food:


There must be a kitchen, suitably located in relation to the living
accommodation, and of such layout and size and equipped with such
facilities so as to adequately enable those sharing the facilities to store,
prepare and cook food.



The kitchen must be equipped with the following equipment, which
must be fit for the purpose and supplied in a sufficient quantity for the
number of those sharing the facilities:
o Sinks with draining boards;
o An adequate supply of cold and constant hot water to each sink
supplied;
o Installations or equipment for the cooking of food;
o Sufficient number of electrical sockets;
o Worktops for the preparation of food;
o Cupboards for the storage of food or kitchen and cooking
utensils;
7

Page 31

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

o Refrigerators with an adequate freezer compartment (or, where
the freezer compartment is not adequate, adequate separate
freezers);
o Appropriate refuse disposal facilities;
o Appropriate extractor fans, fire blankets and fire doors.

Locally adopted standards:
Shared Kitchen Facilities

Cooking
appliances

1-5 occupants

1 x oven with grill
1 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave

6-10 occupants

2 x ovens with grills
2 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave
3 x ovens with grills
3 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave or,

11-15 occupants
2 x ovens with grills,
3 x 4 ring hob and,
2 x microwaves with grills

4 x ovens with grills
4 x 4 ring hob
2 x microwave or,
Commented [TR15]: This has been amended for clarity.

16+ occupants
3 x ovens with grills,
4 x 4 ring hob
3 x microwaves with grills

1-5 occupants

1 x sink with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water
2 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water or,

6-10 occupants
Sinks and
drainers

1 x sink and,
1 x dishwasher

Commented [TR16]: A query arose in regards to the
number of sinks and dishwashers, as it was not appropriate to
install additional sinks. Therefore, the standards have been
updated in this table to give applicants more flexibility.

8

Page 32

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Shared Kitchen Facilities
3 x sinks with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water or,
11-15 occupants
2 x sinks and,
1 x dishwasher

Commented [TR17]: As above.

4 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water or,
Commented [TR18]: This has been amended for clarity.

16+ occupants
3 x sinks and,
1 x dishwasher

Commented [TR19]: As above.

1 x 150L refrigerator and,
1 x 150L freezer or,
1-5 occupants
1 x combined fridge-freezer

2 x 150L refrigerators and,
2 x 150L freezers or,
6-10 occupants
Fridge
freezers

2 x combined fridge-freezers
3 x 150L refrigerators and,
3 x 150L freezers or,
11-15 occupants
3 x combined fridge-freezers

16+ occupants

4 x 150L refrigerators and,
4 x 150L freezers or,
4 x combined fridge-freezers

Commented [TR20]: This has been amended for clarity.

Ovens should not be located under windows or next to
doors or thoroughfares.
Layout
No living accommodation should be more than two-storeys
away from the shared kitchen.

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 2000mm per every 5
occupiers.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets
to allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.
9

Page 33

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Shared Kitchen Facilities

Food
storage unit

Each occupant should have access to a double food
storage cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer
space.

Ventilation

Each kitchen should have a mechanical extractor fan in
addition to an openable window.
Waste storage facilities must comply with the requirements
below.

Waste
storage
Fire blanket
and fire
doors

Each kitchen must be provided with 1 fire blanket.
Kitchens should have fire doors with 30/60 minute fire
resistance.

If hostels provide all main meals, the kitchen facilities are to be provided for
every 10 occupants and the ovens can be replaced with microwaves.

5. Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (individual
use facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (4) as amended by The Licensing and Management of
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations
2007.
Applies to: Individual use kitchens
Prescribed standards:


Where a unit of living accommodation contains kitchen facilities for the
exclusive use of the individual household, and there are no other
kitchen facilities available for that household, that unit must be provided
with:
o
o
o
o
o
o



Adequate appliances and equipment for the cooking of food;
A sink with an adequate supply of cold and constant hot water;
A work top for the preparation of food;
Sufficient electrical sockets;
A cupboard for the storage of kitchen utensils and crockery;
A refrigerator.

The standards referred to shall not apply in relation to a unit of
accommodation where:

10

Page 34

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

o The landlord is not contractually bound to provide such
appliances or equipment;
o The occupier of the unit of accommodation is entitled to remove
such appliances or equipment from the HMO; or
o The appliances or equipment are otherwise outside the control
of the landlord.

Locally adopted standards:
Individual Kitchen Facilities

1 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 2 ring hob

2 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 4 ring hob

1 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

2 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

1 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

2 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

Cooking
appliances

Sinks and
drainers

Fridge
freezers

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 1000mm.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets to
allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.

Food
storage unit

Each occupant should have access to a double food storage
cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer space.

Justification:


An appropriate layout ensures users can safely move around the area
and prepare food sufficiently. Additionally, it reduces hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc.

11

Page 35

Commented [TR21]: This section has been inserted into
the Prescribed Standards section in line with the 2007
Regulations.

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



The sufficient location of appliances (ovens especially) reduces the
incidence of hazards associated with fire, carbon monoxide, and
flames and hot surfaces etc.



An adequate number of appliances ensures users can prepare and
cook food, and it also reduces the likelihood of food safety related
hazards.



A satisfactory number of electrical sockets reduces the likelihood of
sockets being overloaded, reducing the likelihood of electrical hazards
and fire.



Waste storage facilities mitigate hazards relating to domestic hygiene,
pests and refuse.

6. Mandatory requirements in HMOs
6.1 Space standards
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018.
Applies to: Sleeping accommodation and shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
 6.51m2 for one person over 10 years of age.
 10.22m2 for two persons over 10 years of age.
 4.64m2 for one child under the age of 10 years.
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged under 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged under 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years and persons aged under 10 years, it is not
used as such by more than the maximum number of persons aged
over 10 years specified in the licence and the maximum number of
persons aged under 10 years so specified;
12

Page 36

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

 The licence holder must notify the local housing authority of any room in
the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square metres;
 Any room in the HMO with a floor area less than 4.64 square metres
must not be used as sleeping accommodation;
 A reference to a number of persons using a room in an HMO as sleeping
accommodation does not include a person doing so as a visitor of an
occupier of the HMO.
 A room is used as sleeping accommodation if it is normally used as a
bedroom, whether or not it is also used for other purposes;
 Any part of the floor area of a room in relation to which the height of the
ceiling is less than 1.5 metres is not to be taken into account in
determining the floor area of that room for the purposes of this
paragraph;
 Space standards do not apply to an HMO which is managed by a charity
registered under the Charities Act 2011 and which:
a) Is a night shelter, or
b) Consists of temporary accommodation for persons suffering or
recovering from drug or alcohol abuse or a mental disorder.
Locally adopted standards:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Shared kitchen

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

6.51m2

2 people over 10yrs

10.22m2

1 child under 10yrs

4.64m2

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above, there must also be room for
occupants to sufficiently move around the
kitchen to prepare food. Where practicable an
area for dining should also be provided within the
kitchen.

Shared living room (only 2m2 per every occupant (up to 6 occupants)
required if there is
1m2 per every additional occupant (7 occupiers
insufficient space for
or more) (e.g. 8 occupants would require 14m2
dining in the kitchen)
living space)
13

Page 37

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Bedsit type HMOs
Type of room

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

Bedsit and living room
with separate kitchen

1 person

9m2

2 people

14m2

Separate kitchen

Bedsit room with
kitchen and living space

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above.
1 person

14m2

2 people

19m2

Separate bedroom sizes must comply with the minimum room sizes above for
shared accommodation.
No more than one household shall occupy any room used for sleeping
accommodation (please see the Housing Act 2004 for the definition of a
household).
Please note, where showers are installed within bedrooms (excluding en suite
bathrooms) an assessment will be made on a case by case basis to
determine whether this arrangement utilises space from the minimum size of
the sleeping accommodation required.
Justification:


A sufficient room size and layout encourages occupants to eat and
store food in the kitchen and dining areas, reducing the likelihood of
hazards relating to pest infestations in individual rooms.



A sufficient layout and size also reduces the number of hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc., flames
and hot surfaces, falls on the stairs, and falls between levels (as
occupants are less likely to carry hot food through the house).



Larger rooms allow for more space and privacy, and for the storage of
clothes and other items. Additionally, more people are now working
from home so may require additional space for office equipment.

6.2 Waste Disposal
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018.
Applies to: Waste provisions

14

Page 38

Commented [TR22]: This has been inserted into the 2022
Amenity Standards to clarify the Council’s position on the
sharing of rooms used for sleeping accommodation by one or
more households.

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Prescribed standards:


The licence holder must comply with any scheme provided by the local
housing authority to the licence holder and which relates to the storage
and disposal of household waste at the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:
Type
Recycling

Specification
Indoor food caddy 1 x 7 litre per every 5 occupants
Food recycling bin 1 x 23 litre per every 5 occupants
Green or black recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5
occupants
Blue recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5 occupants
Brown bag 1 x every 5 occupants
Green bag 1 x every 5 occupants

Refuse

Wheeled bin or equivalent 1 x 240 litre per every 5
occupants

Please note: Adequate internal (in a non-habitable room) or external storage
must be provided to ensure waste for recycling can be stored for 7 days, and
waste for landfill/incineration, can be stored for up to 14 days.
Commented [TR23]: This has been amended to ensure the
policy is future proof in the event of any future cost changes
to this service.

An optional chargeable garden waste collection service is also available.
Justification:


Encourages recycling, which reduces the pollution caused by waste,
and promotes sustainable consumption.



Enables the disposal of waste to reduce the likelihood of hazards
relating to domestic hygiene, pests and refuse.

7. HMO management
The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations
2006. For section 257 HMOs, similar duties are set out in the Licensing and
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)
(England) Regulations 2007.
Applies to: Managers of HMOs
Prescribed standards:

15

Page 39

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

7.1 Manager duties


Duty of manager to provide information to occupier.
o Name, address and any telephone contact numbers are made
available to each household in the HMO;
o Such details are clearly displayed in a prominent position in the
HMO.



Duty of manager to take safety measures.
o All means of escape from fire are maintained and kept free from
obstruction, and maintained in good order and repair;
o Firefighting equipment and fire alarms are kept in good repair;
o All fire escape notices are clearly visible to occupiers;
o All such measures must be taken to protect occupants from
injury.



Duty of the manager to maintain water supply and drainage.
o Water supply and drainage must be maintained in a good, clean
and working condition;
o Any tank cistern or similar receptacle used for the storage of
water used for drinking or other domestic purposes should be
suitably covered, and maintained in a clean and working
condition;
o Water fittings must be protected from frost damage;
o The water supply must not be interrupted at any time.



Duty of manager to supply and maintain gas and electricity.
o Updated gas certificates to be provided to the council within 7
days of a request. Gas safety inspections must carried out by a
recognised engineer;
o Periodic electrical inspections carried out to statutory
requirements by a competent person every 5 years;
o Updated electrical safety certificates specifying the results of the
test must be provided to the council within 7 days;
o The gas and electricity supply must not be interrupted at any
time.



Duty of the manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and
appliances.
o All common parts must be maintained in a good decorative
repair, in a safe and working condition and be kept clear from
obstruction;
o Handrails and banisters are supplied and kept in good repair;
o Stair coverings are safely fixed and kept in good repair;
o All windows and ventilation is kept in good repair;
16

Page 40

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

o Common parts must be fitted with adequate light fittings, fixtures
and appliances, and kept in good repair and in working order;
o Outbuildings, yards and forecourts must be maintained and in
good condition and order;
o Gardens are kept in a safe and tidy condition;
o Boundary walls, fences and railings are kept in safe repair;
o Any such part of the HMO not in use is kept clean and free from
refuse and litter.


Duty of the manager to maintain living accommodation.
o Living accommodation and furniture supplied are in a clean
condition and kept in good repair;
o Internal structures are kept in good repair;
o Any fixtures, fittings or appliances are kept in good repair and
working order;
o Every window and means of ventilation are kept in good repair.



Waste storage facilities are provided.
o Sufficient bins or suitable receptacles are provided that are
adequate for the requirements of each household;
o Waste disposal must be in accordance with the Council’s policy.

Please note: The manager of the property must be fully conversant with the
above legislation.
7.2 Tenant duties
Every occupier of the HMO must:


Conduct themselves in a way that does not hinder or frustrate the
manager in the performance of his duties;



Allow the manager, for any purpose connected with the carrying out of
any duty imposed on him by these Regulations, at all reasonable times
to enter any living accommodation or other place occupied by that
person;



Provide the manager, at his request, with any such information as he
may reasonably require for the purpose of carrying out any such duty;



Take reasonable care to avoid causing damage to anything which the
manager is under a duty to supply, maintain or repair under these
Regulations;



Store and dispose of litter in accordance with the arrangements made
by the manager; and

17

Page 41

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



Comply with the reasonable instructions of the manager in respect of
any means of escape from fire, the prevention of fire and the use of fire
equipment.

The manager of the HMO should advise tenants of their duties outlined
above.

8. Miscellaneous recommendations
The following recommendations are not prescribed in statue or locally set.
They are areas landlords are recommended to look at implementing for best
practice, in order to improve the property for both themselves and their
tenants. The miscellaneous recommendations will not routinely form a part of
the licence conditions.
8.1 Minimum bedroom sizes
Whilst there are prescribed standards set by The Licensing of Houses in
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England)
Regulations 2018, the Council recommends landlords work towards providing
accommodation that fits the minimum room sizes set out below:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

7.5m2

2 people over 10yrs

11.5m2

1 child under 10yrs

6.0m2

These room sizes have been developed in accordance with the minimum
technical housing standards for affordable accommodation.
There is evidence to suggest there is an association between space and
wellbeing, and thus it is proposed that landlords work towards these
standards as best practice to promote positive tenant mental health and
wellbeing.
8.2 Energy efficiency
Since 1st April 2018, there has been a legal requirement that all properties let
on new tenancies (including renewals) must hold an EPC Band E. Moreover,
this has been a requirement since 1 April 2020 on all privately rented
properties (even where there has been no change in tenancy).
We recommend licence holders take reasonable steps in improving the
energy efficiency of their properties, and work towards improving the EPC

18

Page 42

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

towards Band C where practicable. This can be beneficial for both landlords
and their tenants as:


Properties cost less to heat, making them more attractive to potential
tenants and cheaper for landlords who include bills as part of their
tenancy agreement. Properties with an EPC Band C cost around £300
less per annum to heat than those at Band D, and around £740 less
than Band E properties.



The property is less likely to have deficiencies contributing towards
Category 1 and 2 hazards under the HHSRS. For example, less
condensation is likely to occur if the property can be kept warm,
meaning a reduction in redecoration and maintenance costs.



Property value can increase with a higher EPC Band by as much as
14%.



Reduces fuel poverty, and ensures homes meet the Fuel Poverty
(England) Regulations 2014 requirement of a Band C rating by 2030.

Additionally, in line with meeting the government target to bring all
greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050, sustainable measures should
be encouraged (e.g. water saving initiatives, upgrading appliances, lagging of
pipework, efficient fabrication of buildings, LED lighting replacements,
recycling facilities etc.).
More information on the financial and environmental impacts of sustainable
homes can be found in this report by the Environment Agency.
8.3 Lead in drinking water
Exposure to lead in drinking water is one of the 29 HHSRS hazards and can
be harmful to health, especially for babies and young children. Therefore, it is
recommended that the licence holder or manager checks the water pipes in
the property to ensure that there are no lead pipes or fittings present. The
licence holder or manager should use the table below created by South West
Water to check for lead pipework. The best places to check are under the
stairs, behind the kitchen cupboards and in basements.
If you come across lead piping this should be changed. In the short term, you
should encourage tenants to run the tap for approximately two minutes every
morning, or after periods when the property has been left vacant. To ensure
water isn’t wasted, this water could be collected and used for other purposes
(e.g. water plants or washing cars).
Material
Lead

Appearance

Suitable

Dull grey on the outside
Easily scratched to reveal shiny silver
underneath

No

19

Page 43

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Material

Appearance

Suitable

Dull sound when tapped
Copper

Dull brown on the outside
Hard
Bright copper when scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Iron

Dark grey or brown or rusty
Very hard and not easily scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Grey, blue or black

Yes

Plastic

More information pertaining to lead in drinking water can be found on the
South West Water website.
8.4 Radon Levels
High levels of radon can cause lung cancer, especially for smokers or exsmokers. Radon produces radioactive particles that are breathed in overtime
and can damage lung tissue. As such, it is noted as one of the 29 hazards
assessed by the HHSRS.
Certain geological conditions can lead to above average levels of radon,
including those found in parts of North Devon. Public Health England have
designated certain areas of the country as radon prone areas. These are
1km2 areas with properties which have a 1% chance or more of having a
radon concentration at or above 200 Bq m -3. It is recommended radon levels
should be reduced in homes where the annual average is more than 200 Bq
m-3.
As best practice, we recommend licence holders check whether their property
is located in a radon prone area using the interactive map on the Public
Health England website, and making tenants aware of the risks from radon.
Properties most at risk include those with subterranean storeys. If your
property has any subterranean storey utilised for living accommodation, and is
in a radon prone area; we recommend you order a radon report for your
property, and carry out the necessary mitigation and remediation actions.
More information about radon and how to mitigate the impacts of radon in
your property can be found by visiting the Public Health England website.

20

Page 44

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

8.5 Washing and drying facilities
Drying clothes inside the home can raise moisture levels by up to 30%, thus
increasing the likelihood of mould and condensation within a property. This
can pose a health risk to those prone to respiratory illnesses and allergies.
Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage is listed as one of the 29 hazards
assessed by the HHSRS. Thus, in the HHSRS Operating Guidance it is
recommended there should be space for a washing machine, and access to
clothes drying facilities within the home. Therefore, it is recommended that
landlords provide provisions for both the washing and drying of clothes (e.g. a
washing machine, tumble dryer, clothes drier with a connection to an external
vent, or washing line) where practicable.
The availability of clothes washing and drying facilities reduces hazards
associated with damp and mould by reducing the incidence of condensation,
and can also result in a reduction in redecoration and maintenance costs
associated with high moisture levels.

21

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

North Devon Council
Report Date: 9 May 2022
Topic: Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review
Report by: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 North Devon Council has set maximum chargeable fares for taxis under the
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which directly
impact the salaries of taxi drivers licensed in the district. This report seeks to
review North Devon Council’s Authorised Maximum Fares for Licensed
Hackney Carriages (the hackney tariff).
1.2 There has been no increase in taxi fares subsequent to 2016, when the tariff
became effective, and since the time when fares were last reviewed in
February 2019, yet there has been an approximate 12.3% and 7.6%
respective increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) during this period.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That Strategy and Resources Committee approve a recommendation made
by Licensing and Community Safety Committee during their meeting of the
12 April 2022, namely that:
2.1.1

The current table of maximum fares is modified (following a
satisfactory period of public consultation) in line
with Appendix A, which encompasses the following
amendments.
- a 12.3% increase across the table with the exception of waiting
time (in line with the CPI increase since the tariff became
effective in April 2016)
- an increased valet charge to £100.00
- an increased fare for non-motorised vehicles from £1.50 to
£2.00 a minute.
- an amendment/no amendment to the commencement of tariff 2
and 5 (night rate)
- an extra charge of 10p added to the fare price when the South
West average price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on
the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p
added for each subsequent increase of 10p per litre.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8
3

REASONS

3.1 To consider representations from the taxi trade received in respect of the
Council’s hackney carriage fare tariff.
3.2 To take into consideration the increase in the CPI since the hackney tariff
became effective.
3.3 It is believed that a valet charge of £100 is proportionate with likely cleaning
costs, and downtime not being able to take subsequent fares.
3.4 Provide the ability to readily react to fuel price surges and a volatile
marketplace.
3.5 There is currently only one horse drawn carriage in operation locally. In light of
this and the fact that this tariff is in essence for pleasure rides, it is believed that
an increase of 50p per minute is likely justified.
4

REPORT

4.1 North Devon Council’s current hackney carriage fare tariff became effective in
April 2016. Appendix B contains the card that must be displayed within a
licensed vehicle. Subsequent to its implementation two reviews have taken
place in November 2016, and February 2019 during which decisions were
taken that any amendment was not justified at that time.
4.2 A significant period of time has now passed and it is necessary to undertake a
further review. Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976 enables the Council to set fares for hackney carriage vehicles and
requires that before any alteration to the tariff table can take effect a public
notice explaining the changes must be placed in a local newspaper. The public
then must be provided with a period of at least 14 days to make comment on
the proposals. If no adverse comment/objection is received, the approved
changes must take effect. Alternatively, if adverse comment/objection is
received then the matter must be returned to allow the Committee to consider
the representation(s).
4.3 Members attention is drawn to paragraph 5.5 in the Council’s Hackney Carriage
and Private Hire Licensing Policy, which describes the fare tariff criteria to be
utilised when considering any revision:


Reasonable and fair to all stakeholders



Proportionate with the locality

Page 48

Agenda Item 8


Benchmarked with other local authorities



Justified



Simple, and easily calculated



Designed with a view to practicality



In line with published best practice guidance



Mathematically correct and capable of being entered onto a meter



Structurally the same for vehicles of different seating capacity



Designed where possible to avoid either deliberate or accidental over
charging

4.4

Following this meeting it is proposed that a public notice will be published in a
local newspaper and the Council’s taxi newsletter explaining the changes and
inviting observations.

4.5

Fuel prices have increased in the period subsequent to the tariff’s
implementation. Appendix C highlights data gained from AA monthly fuel
price reports which will be of relevance. Currently 87.8% of taxis and private
hire vehicles licensed by the Council are diesel powered and therefore diesel
prices are those for which members will wish to take particular note. In the
period from April 2016 to February 2022 diesel increased in price by 44.8
pence per litre.

4.6

Private Hire and Taxi Monthly (PHTM) Magazine publish and update the cost
of a two mile hackney carriage fare on Tariff 1 (day rate) nationally every
month and produce a league table of all 355 Councils. In March the position of
North Devon Council was 89th. Furthermore, North Devon Council’s position is
benchmarked against its neighbouring authorities in Appendix D, for which
North Devon’s rate of £6.55 for a two mile daytime journey is currently 7th
lowest out of those authorities in Devon. The national average is £6.08 and
local average £5.94. Due to the rural nature of North Devon it would be
expected that fares would be higher than urban areas, where there would be
less dead mileage (the amount of mileage spent driving without a passenger
in the vehicle i.e. non-earnable mileage), albeit there is history of some of the
more affluent areas demanding higher rates due to the higher cost of living,
and house prices etc. It is worthy to note that taxi drivers are unable to
specifically charge for dead-mileage in the same way as a private hire vehicle
operator is able under the relevant legislation.

4.7

The Council circulated a taxi trade newsletter in February 2022 seeking initial
views as an early stage of consultation. It was believed that comments would

Page 49

Agenda Item 8
assist the committee in examining options prior to undertaking any statutory
consultation exercise. The newsletter provided detail of a collective proposal
received from the trade (prior to the circulation of the newsletter) and sought
to gain responses on whether there was support for the proposal put forward
or for any other alternative.
4.8

The original trade proposal and subsequent representations received from
members of the taxi trade are anonymised and contained at Appendix E.

4.9

Whilst it is not possible to calculate example journeys for all trade
suggestions, for ease of comparison, the initial trade proposal on which
members of the trade were given the ability to provide comment on (14.5%
increase), and a further proposal (22.2% increase), are both entered into a
table at Appendix F, alongside examples (please note that when calculated
the tariff has been rounded to provide for a more appropriate format) based
upon:
4.9.1 A 5.5% rise across the fare table based on the most recent CPI
increase.
4.9.2 A 7.6% increase based upon the CPI inflation figure for that period
since the last tariff review in February 2019 (when an amendment was
not deemed to be justified).
4.9.3 A 12.3% increase based upon the CPI inflation figure for that period
since the tariff became effective in April 2016

4.10 Given the recent dramatic rises in the cost of living, it was considered
appropriate to look at options for amendment of the current table of maximum
fares based on CPI inflation data. The benefit being that this has the
significant advantage of being very transparent. The CPI inflation figures
produced by the ONS reflect the change in prices for goods and services over
time at a national level, and are updated every month and tracked over many
years previous.
4.11 The recommendation includes a proposal to include an exceptional fuel price
figure within the list of applicable extra charges. It is proposed that an extra
charge of 10p be added to the fare price when the price of fuel oil exceeds
£1.75 per litre based on the latest available AA Fuel Price Report (South West
average fuel price published by the AA monthly for many years), with a further
10p for each subsequent increase of 10p per litre. This measure has already
been successfully adopted by two other Devon Authorities, and is undergoing
consultation in South Hams District Council. This is considered by Officers to
be a proportionate response to the recent fuel price volatility and may alleviate

Page 50

Agenda Item 8
the concerns of some drivers that any increase by way of this process may
not be sufficiently expedient.
4.12 In terms of the recommendation before Members there is a proposal to amend
the commencement of night-rate and bring this forward from 11.30pm to
9.00pm. Furthermore, an increase in the valet charge to £100 is
encompassed.
4.13

The Council’s fare tariff encompasses a section in respect of non-motorised
vehicles. A proposal for the increase to the non-motorised vehicle tariff has
been furnished to the Council and is contained in those representations
provided at Appendix D. The proposal made is for a proposed increase from
£1.50 to £2.00 per minute. There is currently only one horse drawn carriage in
operation locally. In light of this, and the fact that this tariff is in essence for
pleasure rides, and for those who have a choice to make a journey (rather a
different scenario than those for whom travelling in a taxi is essential)
Members will need to consider whether this is justified.

5
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1 There are associated costs of newspaper advertisement of any new tariff that
will be met by way of the Council’s existing budget, realised through its licence
fees.
5.2 The Council’s hackney carriage tariff directly impacts the licensed trade by way
of the maximum fares that they are able to charge.
5.3 The current tariff was effective in April 2016, and it appears to now be an
appropriate time to review the fares given recent significant rises in CPI. It is
however recognised that raising the cost of fares too greatly may adversely
impact the ability of vulnerable users to be able to afford this essential service.

6
EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1 The impact of the proposals will depend on any increase approved. Should the
Council set the fare too low this may adversely affect the supply of taxis in the
area. Whilst setting the fare too high may have a negative impact on the
vulnerable users of this essential service, for example protected groups
including the disabled who rely on taxis as a principle form of transport. An
Equalities Impact Assessment has been produced.
7
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1 An Environmental Assessment has demonstrated no impacts to highlight as
part of this report.

Page 51

Agenda Item 8
8
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1 What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1 The commercialisation agenda: Reviewing the tariff and making an
increase of fares will have a general impact on the cost of taxi
journeys across the district. Taxi fares have a direct impact on the
taxi drivers, operators and proprietors of licensed vehicles by way
of the remuneration provided through the journeys taken by the
public and there is a similar impact on individuals and businesses
using taxis for these journeys which may be pleasure or business
related.
8.1.2 Improving customer focus and/or: Reviewing the tariff and making
careful consideration of those representations gained will ensure
there is appropriate customer focus.
8.1.3 Regeneration or economic development: Reviewing the tariff and
making an increase of fares will have a general impact on the cost
of taxi journeys across the district. Taxi fares have a direct impact
on the taxi drivers, operators and proprietors of licensed vehicles
by way of the remuneration provided through the journeys taken by
the public and there is a similar impact on individuals and
businesses using taxis for these journeys which may be pleasure or
business related.

9
CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1 Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:1h
9.2 Referred or delegated power?: Delegated.

10

11

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1 This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report: (The background papers are available for inspection and kept by
the author of the report).
 North Devon Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy March 2022
 Private Hire and Taxi Monthly (www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables)
 Office for National Statistics Consumer Prices Index
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices#dataset

Page 52

Agenda Item 8
12

STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
12.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers:
Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager. 20.04.2022

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
NORTH DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL AUTHORISED MAXIMUM FARES FOR LICENSED
HACKNEY CARRIAGES
EFFECTIVE XX XX 2022
Tariff
FARES FOR UP TO FOUR PASSENGERS
1 Hirings begun between 7am & 9pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s
Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
2 Hirings begun between 9pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all
Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
3 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New
Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
Tariff
FARES FOR 5, 6, 7 OR 8 PASSENGERS
4 Hirings begun between 7am & 9pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s
Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
5 Hirings begun between 9pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all
Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
6 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New
Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
7 Non-motorised hackney carriages -Hirings at any time
£2.00 per minute

Rate

£3.10
£2.80
£0.25

£4.70
£4.30
£0.25

£6.30
£5.60
£0.25
Rate

£4.70
£4.30
£0.25

£6.30
£5.60
£0.25

£9.40
£8.50
£0.25

Extras
An extra charge of 10p added to the fare price when the South West average price of fuel oil exceeds
£1.75 per litre based on the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added for each
subsequent increase of 10p per litre.
Luggage - for each article of luggage conveyed outside the passengers’ compartment - £0.20
Valeting Charge - chargeable to passengers for soiling the vehicle - £100.00
Children – 2 child passengers under the age of 10 years can be regarded as one adult passenger
(FOR THE CALCULATION OF FARES ONLY) to a maximum of 4 children replacing 2 adult
passengers – may not exceed maximum number of passengers vehicle licensed to carry
ALL VEHICLES CAN ONLY CARRY THE NUMBER OF PASSENGERS AS INDICATED BY THE
Page 55
PLATE SITUATED ON THE REAR OF THIS VEHICLE

This page is intentionally left blank

NORTH DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
AUTHORISED MAXIMUM FARES FOR
LICENSED HACKNEY CARRIAGES
EFFECTIVE 26 APRIL 2016
Luggage - for each article of luggage
conveyed outside the passengers’
compartment - £0.20
Valeting Charge - chargeable to
passengers for soiling the vehicle - £75.00
Children – 2 child passengers under the
age of 10 years can be regarded as one
adult passenger (FOR THE CALCULATION
OF FARES ONLY) to a maximum of 4
children replacing 2 adult passengers –
may not exceed maximum number of
passengers vehicle licensed to carry

Page 57

ALL VEHICLES CAN ONLY CARRY THE
NUMBER OF PASSENGERS AS
INDICATED BY THE PLATE SITUATED
ON THE REAR OF THIS VEHICLE

Tariff
FARES FOR UP TO FOUR PASSENGERS
Rate
1 Hirings begun between 7am & 11.30pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£2.80
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.25
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
2 Hirings begun between 11.30pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£4.20
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.38
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
3 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£5.60
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.50
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
Tariff
FARES FOR 5, 6, 7 OR 8 PASSENGERS
Rate
4 Hirings begun between 7am & 11.30pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£4.20
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.38
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
5 Hirings begun between 11.30pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£5.60
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.50
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
6 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
£8.40
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
£0.76
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
£0.25
7 Non-motorised hackney carriages -Hirings at any time
£1.50 per minute

Agenda Item 8

Appendix B

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix C

AA Fuel Price Reports – Monthly
Date

South West Unleaded 95
Octane (pence/litre)

South West Diesel
(pence/litre)

April 2016

107.5

107.2

116.5

118.4

April 2017

118.8

120.7

April 2018

121.6

124.5

February 2019

120.1

129.1

April 2019

125.4

132.3

April 2020

109.7

115.8

April 2021

126.5

129.3

February 2022

148.2

152.0

Total increase
April 16 – February 2022
(pence/litre)

40.7 (38% increase)

44.8 (41% increase)

(Tariff effective)
November 2016
(*Review date, decision to make
no amends)

(*Review date, decision to make
no amends)

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
APPENDIX D: Devon and National Fare Comparison Tables
As existing:

Review
date

Local
Position in
ranking National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

Torbay

April 22 $

1

11*

£7.43$

Torridge

Oct 20

2

21

£6.95^

East Devon

Sept 20#

3

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

4

57

£6.80

June 13

5

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

6

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

7

88

£6.60

North Devon

Aug 16

8

89

£6.55

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

West Devon

No meters

Local Authority

National average

£6.08

Local average (exc N.Devon)

£5.94

Page 61

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
Trade Proposal 1:

Review
date

Local
Position
ranking in National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

North Devon

-

1

11*

£7.50

Torbay

April 22 $

2

12*

£7.43$

Torridge

Oct 20

3

21

£6.95^

East Devon

Sept 20#

4

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

5

57

£6.80

June 13

6

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

7

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

8

88

£6.60

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

West Devon

No meters

Local Authority

Page 62

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
Trade Proposal 2:

Review
date

Local
Position
ranking in National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

North Devon

-

1

£8.00

Torbay

April 22 $

2

7* (Joint with
Reading)
11*

Torridge

Oct 20

3

21

£6.95^

East Devon

Sept 20#

4

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

5

57

£6.80

June 13

6

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

7

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

8

88

£6.60

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

Local Authority

Page 63

£7.43$

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
Option 1 +5.5%:

Review
date

Local
Position
ranking in National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

Torbay

April 22 $

1

11*

£7.43$

Torridge

Oct 20

3

21

£6.95^

North Devon

-

2

46*

£6.85

East Devon

Sept 20#

4

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

5

57

£6.80

June 13

6

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

7

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

8

88

£6.60

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

West Devon

No meters

Local Authority

Page 64

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
Option 2 +7.6%:

Review
date

Local
Position
ranking in National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

Torbay

April 22 $

1

11*

£7.43$

North Devon

-

2

30*

£7.05

Torridge

Oct 20

3

21

£6.95^

East Devon

Sept 20#

4

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

5

57

£6.80

June 13

6

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

7

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

8

88

£6.60

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

West Devon

No meters

Local Authority

Page 65

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D
Option 3 +12.3%:

Review
date

Local
Position
ranking in National
League Table

Two Mile Fare

Torbay

April 22 $

1

11*

£7.43$

North Devon

-

2

18*

£7.30

Torridge

Oct 20

3

21

£6.95^

East Devon

Sept 20#

4

48

£6.80

Somerset West
and Taunton
Exeter

Feb 22

5

57

£6.80

June 13

6

75

£6.60

Plymouth

Jan 22

7

82

£6.60

Teignbridge

Oct 20

8

88

£6.60

South Hams&

May 17

9

193

£6.00

Mid Devon

Nov 21

10

253

£5.70

West Devon

No meters

Local Authority

*Position in PHTM league table estimated
# Consultation underway on 10% increase on the first half mile of Tariffs 1 & 2
$ Due to come into effect 6 April, figures estimated for two miles
& Consultation underway as part of review based upon CPI % options
^ Rate in PHTM £7.20

Page 66

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E
Appendix E
Representations received from the taxi trade
1.
Just a quick note to ask how the details are going regards the tariff changes for the
Hackney cabs.
In my view it would be better for all concerned and cheaper for the council to do the
meter changes and the new bank holiday changes at the same time obviously before
the new bank holiday. In the mail regarding this it states that it is voluntary but I think
it should be mandatory as owners can charge more for the old bank holiday that is
already on the meter.
Finally the letter regarding the possible rate change only gave 2 weeks or less for
people to reply, it was supposed to to a consultation I personally was on holiday and
did not get the letter till I was back in the UK and too late to reply, but I think if you
are going to consult then enough time should be given and 6 weeks seems more
appropriate and for changes to rules and regulations 12 weeks and we should be
given dates were we can sit in on these meetings that try to change the way we are
allowed to work and make our living all the best

2.
…..With regards the tariff changes I think with the rising costs the trade would
welcome this price increase.

3.
I am writing to enquire when the next Fare Increase will increase.
It has been over 5 years since the last one, and lots of price increases for us drivers
too, especially fuel. My personal running costs have dramatically increased,
especially the price for maintaining my vehicle, tyres, servicing costs etc.
I have spoken to quite a few taxi driver colleagues who also think it's time for an
increase.
I welcome your comments, thank you.

Additional email from same individual:
Dear Licensing Team
I spoke with quite a few taxi drivers last week about the Meter Price increase that
was proposed to yourselves quite a few months ago by various individuals.

Page 67

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E
With the many recent fuel price increases over the past few months we think that the
prices previously forwarded to you need to be revised.
I would like you to take into account that many drivers are currently finding it difficult
to make a living, for example, a driver waiting on the taxi rank might only get one job
an hour,
If this journey is short and local the price could currently be as low as £2.80 then
back to join the back of the taxi queue for another hour plus wait for possibly another
miserable fare.
We cannot continue to live on such a poor wage. I would also like you to take into
consideration the License Fees, and the other costs involved to keep a taxi on the
road, including the very expensive Insurance Premiums.
I would like to propose an increase as follows (to include flag and running mile):
Tariff 1 £3.20

Tariff 3 £6.00

Tariff 2 £4.60

Tariff 6 £9.00

Tariff 4 £4.60
Tariff 5 £6.00
I would to propose that the hiring rate time change from 23.30hrs to 21.00hrs which
would be the same time that Mid Devon County Council has agreed with their taxi
drivers.
I would like to propose that a £12 Booking Charge be implemented which would be
agreed/discussed with the customer booking the journey over the phone, this is for
journeys where the driver has to drive to a designated pick-up point, again as agreed
with Mid Devon County Council and their taxi drivers.
I would like to propose that the charge of soiling a taxi should increase to £100.00 –
not that it happens much at all, but everything has gone up.
4.
I fully support the proposed rate increase.
With ever increase of fuel costs, the increase would help the burden of this

5.
Good morning Licencing,
We are all in Agreement with the price increases.
Signed by three drivers.

Page 68

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E
6.
Hi,
Having read the recent paperwork, I X write to advise that I am in favour of a tariff
increase.

7.

Original proposal for which the newsletter sought views upon:
Dear Sir or Madam
Due to rising fuel/servicing/tyres /cost of living/ etc,we respectfully requesr an
increase on our our Hackney carriage fare rates,we propose, day rate to rise to three
pounds pull off,and thirty pence per tenth of a mile. Night rate to increase to five
pounds pull off and forty five pence per tenth of a mile Multy seat vehicles we
recommend four pound pull off day rate with forty five pence per tenth of a mile, and
night rate six pound pull off and fifty pence per tenth of a mile
The following names are representatives of the trade that are in agreement with
these figures
15 names provided at close of email

8.
Is the £3 flag fall, and or £4.50p or £6.00p for the first Half Mile, and corresponding
rates then .30p and or 45p or 50p for every One Tenth of a mile there after?.
Keep Night Rate and Sunday Rates @ Time And One Half IE £4.50p Flag Fall for
first Half Mile and .45p for every One Tenth Of A Mile There After.
Multi seater Rates::: Day Rate £4.50 For First Half Mile then .45p For every One
Tenth Of A Mile there After, Night & Sunday Bank Holiday Rates £6.00p Flag Fall
Then .50p For Every One Tenth Of A Mile There After. As with all the rates as an
insentive to attract more drivers to be on duty could Double Fares Christmas and
New Years Day. With The Time And One Half Being implemented AT 18.00 Hours
Christmas Eve And New Years Eve PLEASE.
May I bring to the committee's attention that the running mile has remained
unchanged now for APPROXIMATLEY TWELVE YEARS. The Cost Of A Litre Of
Diesel, in 2010 At The Pump Was Approx £1.05.
not to mention the increases over said time in the cost of Maintenace, Insurance,
Licensing, Tyres ECT ECT also the living cost of drivers has increased but not our
income thus forcing some drivers to be on duty over extended periods of time.
You Must Agree that an uplift in fares is long over due, and trust that the committee
would grant an uplift in the fare structure to be granted in the not to distant future.
PS COULD IT BE POSSIABLE FOR TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS TO ATTEND
THE COMMITTEE MEETING TO DISCUSS THE PROPOSED FARE INCREASE, IF
SO PLEASE FORWARD ME THE DETAILS OF DATE TIME, & PLACE, AND THE
PERMITED NUMBERS THAT WOULD HAVE ACCESS.

Page 69

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

KIND REGARDS
9.
Hi, I am emailing in response to the proposed change in fares.
I put in a request for the fares for the horse drawn hackney carriage to be reviewed
on 16th June 2021. This doesn't appear to be listed on the proposed fare changes.
Please can this also be amended as this hasn't changed for 10 years. The proposed
changes I asked for was for a minimum fare of 10 minutes and the charge to be
Increased from £1.50 to £2 per minute. The cost of shoes and feed has gone up
dramatically over the last 10 years hence the need for an increase.

Page 70

Agenda Item 8
APPENDIX F

Appendix F

Comparison of options against existing North Devon Council hackney carriage tariff
Fare

Trade

Trade

Existing

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Existing

Proposed

Proposed

+5.5%

+7.6%

+12.3%

1

2

North
Devon
Council

Torridge
District
Council

(April
16)

(Oct 20)

FARES FOR UP TO FOUR PASSENGERS
Tariff One Hirings begun between 7am & 11.30pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
£3.00
£3.20
£2.80
£2.95
£3.00
£3.10
£3.70
Running Mile

£3.00

£3.20

£2.50

£2.60

£2.70

£2.80

£2.60

Two miles

£7.50

£8.00

£6.55

£6.85

£7.05

£7.30

£6.95

Ten Miles

£31.50

£33.60

£26.55

£27.65

£28.65

£29.70

£27.75

Hirings begun between 11.30pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all Bank Holidays
except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
£5.00
£4.60
£4.20
£4.40
£4.50
£4.70
£5.55
Running Mile

£4.50

£4.60

£3.80

£4.00

£4.10

£4.30

£3.90

Two miles

£11.75

£11.50

£9.90

£10.40

£10.65

£11.15

£10.42

Ten Miles

£47.75

£48.30

£40.30

£42.40

£43.45

£45.55

£41.62

Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New Year’s Eve &
midnight New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
No change £6.00
£5.60
£5.90
£6.00
£6.30
£7.40
Running Mile

No change

£6.00

£5.00

£5.30

£5.40

£5.60

£5.20

Two miles

No change

£18.00

£13.10

£14.45

£14.10

£14.70

£13.90

Ten Miles

No change

£66.00

£53.10

£56.85

£57.30

£59.50

£55.50

Page 71

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

Fare

Trade

Trade

Existing

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Existing

Proposed

Proposed

+5.5%

+7.6%

+12.3%

1

2

North
Devon
Council

Torridge
District
Council

(April
16)

(Oct 20)

FARES FOR 5, 6, 7 OR 8 PASSENGERS
Tariff Four Hirings begun between 7am & 11.30pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
£4.00
£4.60
£4.20
£4.40
£4.50
£4.70
£5.55
Running Mile

£4.50

£4.60

£3.80

£4.00

£4.10

£4.30

£3.90

Two miles

£10.75

£11.50

£9.90

£10.40

£10.65

£11.15

£10.37

Ten Miles

£46.75

£48.30

£40.30

£42.40

£43.45

£45.55

£41.57

Tariff Five Hirings begun between 11.30pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all Bank
Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
£6.00
£6.00
£5.60
£5.90
£6.00
£6.30
£8.33
Running Mile

£5.00

£6.00

£5.00

£5.30

£5.40

£5.60

£5.85

Two miles

£13.50

£15.00

£13.10

£14.45

£14.10

£14.70

£15.64

Ten Miles

£53.50

£63.00

£53.10

£56.85

£57.30

£59.50

£62.44

Tariff Six Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New Year’s Eve
& midnight New Year’s Day
Flag Rate*
No change £9.00
£8.40
£8.85
£9.00
£9.40
£11.10
Running Mile

No change

£9.00

£7.60

£8.00

£8.20

£8.50

£7.80

Two miles

No change

£22.50

£19.80

£20.85

£21.30

£22.15

£20.85

Ten Miles

No change

£94.50

£80.60

£84.85

£86.90

£90.15

£83.25

*Flag rate based on ½ mile North Devon and ¾ mile Torridge District Council

Page 72

Agenda Item 9

North Devon Council
Report Date:9 May 2022
Topic: Levelling Up Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund
Report by: Chief Executive
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This paper presents the current position in relation to the UK Shared
Prosperity Fund (SPF) and the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and provides an
update on arrangements for both.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That Members note the report and comment accordingly
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To appraise members of the latest developments on the Levelling Up funding
front
4. REPORT
Levelling Up Fund
4.1. The Levelling Up Fund Round 1 was issued in 2021 with a deadline for
submission of bids expiring in June 2021. The LUF was targeted at areas
that required levelling up and indices were used to determine priority areas
within the country. TDC was placed in the highest priority area (Level 1)
and NDC was placed in the lowest priority area (Level 3). The priority
grouping is intended to influence the scoring but it is unclear how this has
worked in practice.
4.2. NDC submitted a bid which was unsuccessful. Official feedback received
following the bid was not detailed but will be used to influence a revised bid.
4.3. Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund has now been released. The scheme is
pretty much the same as the previous round and the same indices are
used. Whilst some council areas have moved up a group, NDC remains in
priority group 3. This is as a result of the application of the indices used
which do not favour North Devon as a sub-regional centre.
4.4. At Full Council Members approved a submission of a bid for Round 2
funding based on the original bid so concentrating on Ilfracombe seafront
and the Landmark Theatre.
4.5. The link to the guidance issued for LUF 2 can be found here: Levelling-up
Fund Round 2 Prospectus
UK Shared Prosperity Fund
4.6. The UK Shared Prosperity Fund was announced with the Levelling Up
White Paper. Guidance has recently been issued and further information.

Page 73

Agenda Item 9
4.7.
4.8.

4.9.

4.10.

4.11.

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

4.15.

4.16.

The SPF is intended to replace the European funding following Brexit and
consists of £2.6 billion of funding over 3 years.
The guidance states that the primary focus of the SPF is to support the four
overall aims of Levelling Up but more particularly to build pride in place and
increase life chances.
The allocation of the funding will be over 3 years with funding culminating in
a national allocation of £1.5 billion in year 3 which will be focussed on
People and Skills.
There are 3 investment priorities; Communities and Place, Local
Businesses and People and Skills. As well as this, each area will be
required to allocate funding to the national “Multiply” initiative designed to
improve adult numeracy.
Funding will be allocated to District Councils but access to funding will only
be given once an Investment Plan has been submitted to government.
That Investment Plan must set out measurable outcomes and the
interventions that are being prioritised in order to deliver those outcomes.
They must be submitted by the summer.
The Investment Plan will need to reflect other national priorities such as net
zero etc. It will be for local authorities to allocate the funding and approve
projects.
It is the intention of both North Devon and Torridge Councils to try to
coordinate their Investment Plans where projects or initiatives cross the
border between the two areas. The Investment Plans will also recognise
projects that are individual to a council area.
Councils must identify a broad range of local stakeholders and appropriate
groups in order to secure cross sector involvement. Where there is an
existing collaborative partnership group, it can be designated for the
purposes of the Fund. The Northern Devon Futures Board will act in this
role. MPs should also be a part of the discussions and will need to sign off
on the Investment Plan.
The Investment Plan must be submitted before the 1st August 2022 and so
we also need to ensure that Members are given ample opportunity to
comment upon and feed into the Plan prior to submission.
A link to the UK Shared prosperity Fund guidance can be found here: UK
Shared Prosperity Fund Prospectus

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The formation of the Investment Plan will take internal and possibly external
resource. A sum of £20,000 is available for each local authority to cover their
costs of production but this is only available after the Investment Plan has
been prepared and accepted.

Page 74

Agenda Item 9
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.
6.2. No decision is required. This report is for information only and therefore no
EIA will be needed.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite. If there are no environmental implications
arising from your proposals please state that there are none. If after
completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please
provide a brief summary. If you require any further information please
contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. Email completed
EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk
7.2. There are no environmental implications from this report but the Investment
Plan itself may contain projects that have environmental impacts, positive or
negative. That will be dealt with when the Investment Plan is approved.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:
8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development
8.2. None can be identified at this stage as the Investment Plan has not been
prepared but links will need to be established between the councils own
corporate priorities and the priorities within the Levelling Up papers.
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article 1 of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:
9.2. Delegated power
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
Levelling Up and SPF Guidance (The background papers are available for
inspection and kept by the author of the report).

Page 75

Agenda Item 9
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Ken Miles, Chief Executive.

Page 76

Agenda Item 10

North Devon Council
Report Date: 9th May 2022
Topic: High Street Task Force Support
Report by: Head of Place Property and Regeneration
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 In February 2022, The High Street Task Force announced that 68 Local
authorities would receive a package of expert advice and support, helping to
deliver long term transformation to towns and cities in England.
1.2 North Devon was announced as one of those Local Authorities
1.3 North Devon Council had to confirm acceptance of the support in March this
year
1.4 In a webinar held on the 22nd April, we have now been advised that we need
to nominate a location for this support.
1.5 When considering which place to support, the Task Force suggest that we
consider the Story so far (in an area), a focused area, need, capacity and the
ongoing story. Building on existing work i.e. Future High Street Fund
applicants etc.
1.6 Members therefore may choose to build on the existing project already
approved within Barnstaple following the Future High Street funding and
further enhance the successful outcomes from this project or Members may
wish to choose an alternative town location within North Devon to receive the
support.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 Members to confirm the town centre/high street that they would wish to
nominate
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. The High Street Task Force require us to nominate our location by the 27th
May 2022.
4. REPORT
4.1 The High Street Task Force is ‘an alliance of placemaking experts supporting
communities and local government to transform their high streets.’
4.2 The offer is one of support rather than direct funding to boost local authority
capacity, build sustainable place-making skills, provide an opportunity for
information and data sharing and to co-ordinate a national approach.
4.3 The support suggest a focus on one of the following:

Page 77

Agenda Item 10
Repositioning: knowing your town, using relevant data and information to
develop a collaborative, inspiring vision that achieves change.
Reinventing: activate and animate the town, diversify its attractions.
Multifunctional places offer different things (at different times) to draw in
footfall and spend
Rebranding: establishing an identity and sense of place that can engender
pride, commitment and attachment and communicating this across the whole
community
Restructuring: putting in place the capacity, leadership and partnerships to
deliver change. And/or large-scale spatial change to transform your centre
4.4 The support includes;
A visit from High Streets Task Force Experts to meet local stakeholders and
place leaders, learn about your plans, and help understand challenges and
opportunities.
An expert report, including a ‘prescription’ for HSFT support
A road map
Mentoring
A Place programme over 3 workshops supported by Design Council experts.
4.5 The support is until June 2024.
4.6 When considering which place to support, the Task Force suggest that we
consider the Story so far (in an area), a focused area, need, capacity and the
ongoing story. Building on existing work i.e. Future High Street Fund
applicants etc.
4.7 Areas should be meaningful and manageable i.e. a high street or town centre
core area.
4.8 The Task Force confirm that work should not be paused in advance of support
but that the experts will wrap around our plans.
4.9 The presentation slides provided by the Task Force can be found here:
Redefining the High Street (highstreetstaskforce.org.uk)
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. This work would support our existing resources and seek to build capacity.

Page 78

Agenda Item 10
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1 No specific implications. Any emerging projects would need to be supported
by such an assessment.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1 No specific implications. Any emerging projects would need to be supported
by such an assessment.
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda – would hope to support this work
8.1.2. Improving customer focus – would support this work
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development – would support this agenda
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph a
9.2. Delegated
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The High Street Task Force website.
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: SJ Mackenzie-Shapland Head of Place, Property and
Regeneration.

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT DECISIONS
TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:

Reference No:

The Watering Hole Public House, Castle Street, Barnstaple

2) REQUESTED DECISION: Approval to take a surrender of the leasehold interest
and write off rental arrears.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT: The property is in a poor and deteriorating state on repair, particularly
the roof and windows, the tenant is in very poor health and it is therefore not
possible for works to be carried out to the building whilst in occupation.
The tenant has a protected tenancy and there is no break clause. By obtaining
vacant possession, works will be able to go ahead to make the property safe and
prevent it deteriorating further. It is intended that the property is converted in part for
Temporary Accommodation.
This matter has been ongoing since September 2018. Discussions with the tenant to
surrender the lease and vacate the property have been ongoing since May 2019. On
the 10th March 2022, the tenant contacted the Council and agreed to the surrender
on the basis this takes place on the 31st March 2022.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
The rental under the lease is £12,000.00 per annum, there are currently arrears of
£8,000.00 left on the account which the tenant is unable to pay.
There is a PAG Bid in place to carry out repairs to the roof and windows for the sum
of £90,000.00. The deterioration of the building since the tenant has been unwell
means the works necessary are likely to continue to increase the repair costs.
It is intended that the property is converted for Temporary Accommodation. The
financial summary below indicates the savings to the revenue account for using NDC
property to provide temporary accommodation in their own assets. The upper floor of
the subject property has the potential to house more than one person or a family.

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
Financial Summary
Annual Saving on current TA spend (£65 per night B&B) by
placing into this property

(£23,725.00)

Housing Benefit Annual Income (net of estimated voids)

(5,450.00)

Estimated annual running cost for the property

£2,400.00

Indicative annual borrowing cost for the property (*)

£11,900.00

Net annual saving on Revenue Budget

(£14,875.00)

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
It has not be possible to engage properly with the Tenant due to her ill health, and
she is not in a condition to enable us to work on the building whilst she is in
occupation and does not have the ability to vacate whilst we undertake the works,
without being rehoused either temporarily or permanently.
Furthermore it is not possible to be accurate in terms of how long the works will take
and how extensive they will be.
In the past the relationship with the tenant has been strained. Officers have
expressed concerns about the tenant’s wellbeing and the use of the property which
presents a risk to the Council. Obtaining vacant possession eliminates this risk and
allows the property to be used effectively for the Housing Teams service
requirements.

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
There is no conflict, the tenant is in agreement and will complete a Deed of
Surrender.

7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
A payment of £20,000.00 to enable the tenant to surrender the lease and find
alternative accommodation.

8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Officers have records of the email interactions with the Tenant and her advisers.
9) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Y

Page 82

Date
30/3/22

Agenda Item 11
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)
Lead Member

y

Ward Member(s)

n

Head of Service (name)

y

30/3/22

Finance
Legal

10) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Helen Bond, Property Manager

11) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES

12) DATE OF DECISION: 30/3/22

13) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Im happy to support this as it resolves a
long outstanding issue and prevents further deterioration of council property
14) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:

Page 83

Agenda Item 11

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 84

